
@, ctrrPFltcc)FlN
MUTUAL

Consolidated Annual Report
for the year ended

30 June 2019

CAPRICORN M UTUAL LIMITED
a nd its controlled entities

ABN 24 L04 601 I94



Table of Contents 

CAPRICORN MUTUAL LIMITED 
Consolidated Annual Report 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

�4 CAPRIC';'.lRN

DIRECTORS' REPORT ............................................................................................................................................... 3 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION .......................................................................................................... 12 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ....................................................................................................... 13 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION ................................................................................................................ 14 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ....................•............................................................................................ 15 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS ............................................................................................................................. 16 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT ............................................................................................ 17 

NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY ............................................................................................................................. 17 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION ...................................................................................................................... 17 

NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ................................................................................................. 19 

NOTE 4. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ................................................................. 28 

NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT ........................................................................................................................... 30 

NOTE 6. REVENUE ............................................................................................................................................. 45 

NOT[ 7. [XPCNSES ............................................................................................................................................ 46 

NOTE 8. NET CLAIMS EXPENSE ......................................................................................................................... 47 

NOTE 9. INCOME TAX ....................................................................................................................................... 47 

NOTE 10. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS ................................................................................. 49 

NOTE 11. INVESTMENTS ................................................................................................................................... 50 

NOTE 12. RECEIVABLES ..................................................................................................................................... 51 

NOTE 13. REINSURANCE AND OTHER RECOVERIES ON OUTSTANDING CLAIMS ............................................. 52 

NOTE 14. DEFERRED UNDERWRITING EXPENSES ............................................................................................. 53 

NOTE 15. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES ........................................................................................... 54 

NOTE 16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES .......................................................................................................... 54 

NOTE 17. UNEARNED PROTECTION REVENUE .................................................................................................. 55 

NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY ..................................................................................................... 56 

NOTE 19. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES ......................................................................................................... 63 

NOTE 20. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION ............................................................................................................ 64 

NOTE 21. CONTINGENCIES ................................................................................................................................ 65 

NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ...................................................................................................... 65 

NOTE 23. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE ................................................................................................. 67 

NOTE 24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT ................................................................................................................... 67 

NOTE 25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS ....................................................................................................................... 67 

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION ................................................................................................................................... 68 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ...................................................................................................................... 69 

CORPORATE DIRECTORY ..................................................................................•.... ......................................... 71 

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY ......................................................................................................................... 72 

Page 2 



@ cntrFltcoFlN

DIRECTORS' REPORT
The Directors are pleased to present their report on the Company and its controlled entities
for the year ended 30 June 20L9.

The following terminology is used throughout the financial report:

. CML, Parent or Company - Capricorn Mutual Limited;

. Consolidated or Group - the Consolidated Entity consisting of Capricorn Mutual
Limited and its subsidiaries;

. CIOM - Capricorn (Isle of Man) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CML;

. CMLNZ - CML NZ Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CML; and

. CSL - Capricorn Society Limited,

1. Directors of Capricorn Mutual Limited
The names and details of Directors in office at any time during or since the year ended 30
June 2019 are as follows:

Director Date of
Appointment

Special Responsibilities

John Balmforth t2 March 2Ot4
Reappointed
11 March 2017

Independent, Non-Executive Director
Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee
Member of the Relationship Committee

Russell Becker 11 December 2013
Reappointed
22 October 2016

Non-Executive Di rector

Mark Cooper 23 October 2015
Reappointed
21 November 20L7

Non- Executive Di rector
Member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Bruce Rathie 5 November 2015
Reappointed
27 October 2OL6
Reappointed
B November 2018

Chairman, Non-Executive Director
Director of CIOM
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

1.1 Experience and qualifications of Directors

John Balmforth B,Bus, CPA, F.Fin, MAICD

Independent, Non-Executive Director

John joined the Board in 2OL4 as an independent, Non-Executive Director and Chairman

of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. John is also a member of the Relationship

Committee. John was reappointed to this position in March 20L7. John has more than 50

years'experience in banking and insurance in both Australia and New Zealand. Prior to
joining CML he was Chief Executive of the mutually owned AMI Insurance Limited which

at the time was the largest wholly New Zealand owned fire and general insurer. His

previous board governance roles have included Chairman of the International Cooperative

and Mutual Insurance Federation and its development associate Allnations Inc., President

and Director of the Insurance Council of New Zealand, Chairman of the Board of the
Insurance and Savings Ombudsman Scheme, New Zealand and a Director of the New

Zealand Institute of Management, Canterbury'

Russell Becker FAICD

Non- Executive Director

Russelljoined the board as a Non-Executive Director in 2009 and served on the CML Board

from 2009 to 2011, re-joining the Board in 2013. Russell is a graduate and Fellow of the

Australian Institute of Company Directors and has completed the UWA Co-op and Mutual

Executive Leadership Program.

Russell has served as a Director of Capricorn Society Ltd since 2005 and has been

Chairman of the CSL Board since 2015, Russell has also served as Chairman of the CSL

Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Russell has been involved in the automotive industry since 1979. Russell currently

operates a Mechanical Repair business that was established in 1991 and is an RTA AUVIS,

AIS and LPG inspector.

Russell has been actively involved in the governance of many community, sporting and

member based groups, including Special Olympics, Junior Soccer and Motor Sport. Russell

is currently the President of Combined Districts Kart Club. Russell is married to Karen and

they have 3 children.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

Mark Cooper Grad. Cert. Comm, GAICD
Non-Executive Director

Mark joined the Board in October 20L5 and serves on the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee. Mark has been a member of the CSL Board since 2013 and Vice Chairman
since October 2018. He has previously been a member of the CSL Audit and Risk
Committee and Chairman of CSL's Remuneration and Nomination Committee, Mark has
been a Member of CSL since 1995 and has been a Member of CML since July 2015.

Mark has been involved in the automotive industry for over 37 years and is a director of
several family owned companies and currently sits on the Executive Committee of the
Tasmanian Automotive Chamber of Commerce (TACC), Mark has a Graduate Certificate in
Commercialisation from the University of Tasmania, and is also a graduate of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Bruce Rathie B.Com, LLB, MBA, FAIM, FAICD
Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Bruce was appointed to the Board in November 2015. Bruce has a Masters of Business
Administration, a Bachelor of Law, a Bachelor of Commerce, a Graduate Diploma of Applied
Corporate Governance/ a graduate and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors, the Governance Institute of Australia and the Australian Institute of Leaders and
Managers. Bruce has been a director of CSL since July 2008 and is a member of the Audit
and Risk Committee.

Bruce's professional experience includes numerous executive director, non-executive
director and chairman positions in both the public and private sectors over more than 17
years. Bruce has been a director of major investment banks including Ord Minnett and
Salomon Smith Barney Australia Limited. Bruce is currently a non-executive director of
ASX listed PolyNovo Limited and unlisted Australian Meat Processor Corporation. Bruce
has also had extensive law experience with major firms and was Senior Corporate Counsel
at Bell Resources in the mid 1980's,
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

1.2 Attendance at Board and Committee meetings
The number of meetings of Directors held during the year and the number of meetings
attended by each Director was as follows:

Director

Meetings held

John Balmforth
Russell Becker
Mark Cooper
Bruce Rathie

Board of
Directors

Audit, Risk &
Compliance
Committee

6

Relationship
Committee

06
gEnded

6

5

6

6

Attele
6

6

6

6

bgEI bt Attended Eligible Attendede

6

6

6

6

6

5

6

6

There were 6 Board meetings, 6 Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee meetings and no

Relationship Committee meetings held during the year'

2. Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company during the year was to offer discretionary financial

risk products to subscribing Members of CSL to protect the assets of those Members from

financial loss. The Company can only offer discretionary financial risk products to Members

of CSL. The Company pays claims incurred by Members on a discretionary basis in
accordance with the Company's Constitution and Rules, The principal activity of the

Company has not changed since its inception.

3. Operating and financial review
FY19 saw another successful year for the Group highlighted by:

r gross written protections ("GWP") growth of L|o/o compared to FYIB;
o h€t profit of $2,635m after tax (2018: $3,208m) increasing Members Equity to

$L9.L44m;
. the repayment of $2.403m (2018: nil) of the CSL loan; and
. the acceptance of 90%o (2018: 87o/o) of lodged claims (declined claims include

claims that have settled with no payment)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

3.1 Operating result for the financial year

The Group achieved a net profit after tax of $2.635m for the year ended June 20Lg
compared with $3,208m in the prior year. The result was influenced by the following
factors:

o gross written protections growth of L5o/o to $64,323m;
. an increase in the net claims ratio from 55o/o in FY1B to 58o/o in FY19 driven by the

Sydney hail event in December 2018; and
. other large claims activity.

The combination of these factors resulted in a combined operating ratio of 960/o (20L8
95o/o).

3.2 Review of financial condition

A. Financial position
The total assets of the Group as at 30 June 2019 were $87.570m compared to $77.565m
at 30 June 2018, The increase in assets is represented by the net effect of:

. an increase of $5.258m in receivables in line with the growth in the portfolio;

. an increase of $1 .I29m in cash and cash equivalents resulting from profits;
o a decrease of $0.144m in reinsurance and other recoveries due to a lower number

of larger claims therefore reinsurance recoveries have not materialised;
. an increase of $0.479m in deferred acquisition costs in line with the business

growth; and
. an increase of $0.283m in deferred expenses which is mainly reinsurance related

as a result of the growth in the portfolio.

The total liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2OL9 were $68,426m compared to
$61.056m at 30 June 2018, The increase in liabilities is represented by the net effect of:

. an increase of $4.477m in unearned protection revenue;

. an increase of $4.608m in outstanding claims liability;

. an increase of $0.733m in trade and other payables, all due to the growth in the
portfolio; and

. a decrease of $2,403m in interest bearing liabilities following a partial repayment
of the CSL loan in March 20L9.

The balance of the interest bearing loan from CSL is $2.500m and incurred $0,190m in
interest in FYl9 (FY18:$0.221m)

The Members'Equity increased to $19.744m at 30 June 20L9 compared to $16.509m as
at 30 June 2018 in line with the reported profit,
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

B. Cash from operations

The net cash inflows from operating activities for the financial year ended 30 June 20L9

were 96.515m compared to $1.863m for the prior financial year predominately due to

higher GWP but a similar level of claim payments. The Board receives and approves a
rolling 12 month cashflow forecast each quarter under the financial conditions of CML's

Australian Financial Services Licence ("AFSL").

C. Investments

The investment policy seeks to maximise returns whilst protecting Members' funds and

ensure that funds are available as and when required. It also seeks to minimise foreign

exchange exposures and discount rate exposures through providing a natural hedge by

matching assets and liabilities where possible.

The Group's investment balance increased to $25.000m as at 30 June 2019 (2018:

$22.000m).

The investments and cash and cash equivalents comprise solely of fixed term deposits

with Australian banks with a minimum Standard & Poor's ("S&P") rating of A. As at balance

date, 640/o and 360/o of the portfolio is rated AA and A, respectively. Further details on

investment risk management are provided in Note 5 of this Consolidated Financial Report'
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

3.3 Strategy

Strategic Priorities

As outlined in the 2018 Annual Report, the Company has developed a new strategy called
LEAD which continues with the previous strategy's key themes of driving sustainable
growth, improving product and pricing capabilities and focussing on claims but introducing
two new themes which will make CML the leader in our niche. These themes include
engaging technology and raising product and brand awareness and are supported by the
following initiatives :

. For Sales, the focus is on improving efficiency and effectiveness through technology,
including field quoting and partnering with industry experts and training our sales
force for high performance;

. Increasing pricing granularity through risk address-based pricing to ensure
Members' pricing accurately reflects their risk;

. Reviewing our product to support our competitive position;

. Responding to the technology transformation through utilising portfolio data
analytics and adding more online functionality;

. Expanding trade media presence;

. Promoting the'mutual difference'to the membership base.

The LEAD strategy was in operation throughout FY19 and significant progress has been
made with all of these initiatives. Specifically:

. The Product Disclosure Statement was reviewed and enhanced with B0 changes and
was approved for release and operation from 1 July 20L9;

. The entire sales force completed a program of training to standardise the message
to Members;

. The first stage of the Live Field Quoting project was completed in June 20t9;

. The purchase of natural hazard data to allow more accurate pricing forthese perils;

. The launch of an underwriting rules engine to enhance CML's pricing and
underwriting capability, improving operational efficiency and the renewal
experience for Members;

. Strengthening our supply chain management through partnering with specialists to
combat rising motor vehicle repair costs; and

. Rebalancing earthquake exposure in New Zealand,

The Company continues to operate solely to serve the protection needs of its Members
with the explicit goal of being the first option they think of for their protection needs and
then offering the best risk products for their situation. We believe the new LEAD strategy
continues to achieve this goal.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

3.4 Outlook

Underwriting operations are, by their nature, volatile due to the exposure to natural perils

and industry cycles and thus profit predictions are difficult.

CML is targeting GWP growth of 5-10% in FY20 coming from new memberships,
inflationary increases in sums protected and rate increases to reflect risk assumed.

4 Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Company has arranged for insurance premiums to be paid in respect of its Directors,
Officers and the Company Secretary of the Company as well as those of its controlled
entities. The insurance premium relates to:

costs and expenses incurred by the relevant Director or Officer in defending
proceedings; and
other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct
involving a wilful breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain

a personal advantage.

The contract prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of the
premium.

5 Proceedings

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company

or its controlled entities or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company or its
controlled entity is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Company for all or any part of those proceedings,

6 Independence declaration

The Auditors' Independence Declaration on page 12 forms part of the Directors' Report for
the year ended 30 June 20L9.

7 Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers (*PWC') continues in office in accordance with section 3278 of
the Corporations Act 2001.

a

a
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

I Non-Audit services

During the year, PWC performed tax and consultancy related services for CML and CMLNZ.
This included advice in relation to Transfer Pricing and consultancy for the implementation
of the new accounting standard AASB 17 - Insurance Contracts.

9 ASIC relief regarding disclosure of separate information on the Company

This financial report includes the financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the
Company. The Company is the kind of company referred to in the class order LO/654
Inclusion of Parent Entity Financial Statements in Financial Reports issued by ASIC. As a

result, the summarised financial position of the Company has not been presented,

1O Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in the ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financial /
Directors'Reports) Instrument2016/L91. Amounts have been rounded off in the Directors'
Report to the nearest thousand dollars or, in certain cases, to the nearest dollar in
accordance with that instrument.

11 Subsequent events

As at the date of this report, there were no material or unusual events or transactions
occurring after the reporting date that the Directors are aware of that would significantly
affect the Company's operations or its state of affairs.

12 Environmental regulation

The Company's operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation
under either Commonwealth or state legislation.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

IJJ

Bruce Rathie
Chairman
28 August 2019

John Balmforth
Director
28 August 2019
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Auditor's Indep endence D eclar" ation
As lead auditor for the audit of Capricorn Mutual Limited for the year ended 3o June zor9, I declare that to
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2oor in relation
to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Capricorn Mutual Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Christopher Verhaeghe
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Sydney
z8 August zorg

i
PricewaterhouseCoopers,ABN gz 78o 4SS 767
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quag, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999, www.pwocom.au
Leuel tt, tPSQ, t6g Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zt5o, PO Box tt55 Parramatta. NSW 2124
T: +6t z 9699 2476, F: +6t z 8266 9999,www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Gross protection revenue
Reinsurance expense
Net protection revenue
Gross claims expense
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Net incurred claims
Acquisition costs
Other underwriting expenses
Net underwriting result
Investment revenue
Foreign exchange gains / (losses)

Interest expense
Other operating expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit after income tax
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
attributable to the Members of
Capricorn Mutual Limited

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000
59,938 52,807
(5,655) (5,150)
54t283 47,657

(33,590) (29,796)
L,961 3,404

(31,629) (26,392)
(8,405) (7,549)

(LO,3r7) (9,2O9)

3t932 4,507
724 619
2L3 (184)

(leo) (22r)
( 1,909) ( 1,465)
2t77O 3,256
(13s) (48)

2,635 3,208

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'oo0
59,938 52,8O7
(5,655) (5,150)
54t283 47,657

(33,59O) (29,796)
tt96L 3,4O4

(31,629) (26,392)
(8,405) (7,549)

(LO,347) (9,284)
3,902 4,432

774 618
22O (1BB)

(1e0) (22t)
( 1,860) ( 1,435)
2t846 3,206
(13s) (4s)

2,7LL 3,157

Note

6

7

7,8
6

B

7

7

6

6

7

7

9

2,635 3,208 2t7LL 3,157

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

Note

. Consolidated
20L9 2018

$'ooo $'000

CFIFFIIGOFIN

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

8,755
25,OOO

4fJ,827
4,880
3,291
4t8t7

5

6,622
34,878
24,42L

2,5OO

68,426

L9,L44
t9tr44

7,626
22,000
35,569

5,024
3,008
4,338

50

5,889
30,401
19,813
4,9O3

61,056

16,509

16,509

@,

8,586
25,OOO

40,826
4,88O
3t29r
4,817

5

6.471
34,878
24,42L

2,5OO

68,275

L9,L25
L9.125

7,413
22,0OO

35,568
5,O24
3,008
4,338

50

5,77O

30,401
19,813
4,903

60,937

t6,4L4
L6,414

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Deferred expenses
Deferred acquisition costs

Investments in controlled entities
Total assets

Liabilities
Income tax payable

Trade and other payables

Unearned protection revenue
Outstanding claims liability
Interest bearing liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Members'Equity
Retained earnings

Total Members'Equity

10

11

t2
13

L4

T4

15

87,57O 77 ,565 87 AOO 77 ,35L

9

16

L7

1B

19

Lg,L44 16,509 L9,L25 L6,414

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Company

$'ooo

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2OT9

For the year ended 3O June 2OI9
Balance at the beginning of the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at the end of the year

For the year ended 3O June 2018
Balance at the beginning of the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

161509
2,635

L9,L44

13,301
3,2O8

16,509

L6AL4
2t7ll

19,L25

t3,257
3,r57

16,414
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STATEMENTS OF EASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Contributions from Members
Reinsurance and other recoveries received

Claims paid

Reinsurance expenses paid

Management fees

Payments to suppliers
GST paid

Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax (paid) / received

Net cash flows from operating
activities 

-----r - 10

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends from subsidiaries
Investment in term deposits
Maturity of term deposits
Net cash flows from investing
activities

Cash flows from financing
activities
Payment of interest bearing
liabilities

Net cash flows from financing
activities

61515 1,863 61511 L,807

Consolidated.
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

CF|PFIICOFIN

Company
2018

$'000

@,

2019
$'ooo

66,276
2,108

(28,982)
(6,067)

(19,7OO)
(s,362)
(2,O7L)

689
(1eo)
(186)

(25,OOO)
22,OOO

(3,OOO)

(2,4O3)

(2,4O3)

t.lLz

7,626

L7

8t755

57,05t
3,097

(28,853)
(5,42r)

(17,4O2)
(5,142)
(t,782)

634
(221)

(eB)

65,276
2.los

(28,982)
(6,199)

(19,718)
(5,331)
(2,O73)

647
(leo)
(64)

4a
(25,0OO)
22,OOO

11156

7t4L3

L7

8,586

57,05t
3,097

(28,853)
(5,531)

(t7,462)
(5,120)
(t,782)

634
(22r)

(6)

(22,O0O)
21,000

(1,OOO)

863

6,798

(3s)

7,626

(22,000)
21,000

B07

6,639

(33)

7,413

(2,9s2) (1,OOO)

(2,4O3)

(2,4O3)

Net movement in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year
Net foreign exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 10

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Alotes to the Consolidated Financial Report
for the year ended 3O June 2O79

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY
The financial report covers Capricorn Mutual Limited (*CML', "Parent" or "Company") and
its controlled entities ("Consolidated" or "Group"), CML NZ Limited (*CMLNZ") and
Capricorn (Isle of Man) Limited ("CIOM"). The Company together with CMLNZ and CIOM
in this report refers to the "Consolidated Entity."

CML is a public company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Australia on 2 May 2003
and domiciled in Australia,

CMLNZ is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Wellington, New Zealand on 6 May
2003 and domiciled in New Zealand.

CIOM is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Isle of Man on L2 November 2008
and domiciled in Isle of Man.

The Company is not an authorised insurer and therefore is not subject to general insurance
prudential standards and guidance established by the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority ("APRA").

The Company has been granted an AFSL which is regulated by the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission ("ASIC").

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Consolidated Entity are
described in the Directors' Report.

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.L Statement of compliance
This Consolidated Financial Report is a general purpose financial report that was authorised
by the Board of Directors on 28th August 2019 and has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and other pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. It also complies with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB"), The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the
financial report.

2.2 Basis of measurement
This Consolidated Financial Report has been prepared on an historical cost basis. The
Statements of Financial Position have been prepared using a liquidity basis. The Board has
determined that the presentation on the Statements of Financial Position is more relevant
than a current / non-current classification.
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/Votes to the Consolidated Financial Repoft
for the year ended 3O June 2O79

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.3 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currencies of the
economic environments in which the Consolidated Entity operates ("the functional
currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars,
which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Translation differences on

non-monetary items held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of this financial report in conformity with IFRS requires Management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual

results may drffer from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions

to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised

and future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in this financial report is included in the
following notes:

o Note 13 - Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims
o Note L7.2 - Liability Adequacy Test ("LAT")
o Note 18 - Outstanding claims liability

There are other amounts relating to underwriting contracts that are based on allocation
methodologies supported by assumptions (e.g.deferred acquisition costs). These

estimates relate to past events, do not incorporate forward looking considerations and

assumptions generally do not change from year to year.

2.5 Changes in accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements
are set out in Note 3. These policies have been consistently applied to all periods

presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.6 ASIC relief regarding disclosure of separate information on the Company
This financial report includes the financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the
Company. The Company is the kind of company referred to in the class order tO/654
Inclusion of Parent Entity Financial Statements in Financial Reports issued by ASIC. As a
result, the summarised financial position of the Company has not been presented.
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NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.7 Rounding of amounts
The company is of a kind referred to in the ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financial /
Directors' Reports) Instrument2Ot6/L91. Amounts have been rounded off in the financial
report to the nearest thousand dollars or, in certain cases, to the nearest dollar in
accordance with that instrument.

NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Report comprises the financial statements of CML and its
subsidiaries as at and for the period ended 30 June. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power overthe investee. Specifically, the
Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

r pow€r over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee);

. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

. the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

. the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control,
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
Statements of Comprehensive Income from the date the Group gains control until the date
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income are attributed to the
equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation,
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction, If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

. de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

. de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

. de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
o r'€co9r'lises the fair value of the consideration received;
o F€coghises the fair value of any investment retained;
e r€cogrlises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
. reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in profit or loss

or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

3.1 Outsourcedoperations
The Company has entered into an agreement with Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Ltd

(*CMM') to outsource its underwriting, claims management and general administration
and with Capricorn Risk Services Pty Ltd ("CRS") to distribute its products. The amount of
the fee payable to CMM and CRS is determined by the Board each year after reference to

independent market information for similar outsourced arrangements.

A corporate administrative agreement is in place between the Company, CIOM, CMM and

IQ EQ (Isle of Man) Limited in relation to the administration of the affairs of CIOM.

3,2 Revenuerecognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to the Consolidated Entity and the revenue can be measured reliably. The following specific

recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

3.2(i) Protection revenue
Protection revenue comprises amounts charged to Members excluding amounts collected

on behalf of third parties. Protection revenue is recognised in the Statements of
Comprehensive Income when it has been earned. Protection revenue is recognised in the

Statements of Comprehensive Income from the attachment date and earned over the
period of the contract from it's inception date. The proportion of protection revenue not

earned in the Statements of Comprehensive Income at the reporting date is recognised in

the Statements of Financial Position as unearned protection revenue. The Company also

charges membership fees to its Members which are recognised as income when charged.

3.2(ii) Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue
Reinsurance and other recoveries received or receivable on paid claims, reported claims

not yet paid, claims Incurred But Not Reported ("IBNR") and claims Incurred But Not

Enough Reported ("IBNER") are recognised as revenue. Amounts recoverable are assessed

in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims. Recoveries are measured as

the present value of the expected future receipts, calculated on the same basis as the
provision for outstanding claims.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2(iii) fnterest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

3.3 Reinsurance expense
The contractual obligations towards reinsurance contracts held by the Consolidated Entity
are recorded as a reinsurance expense and are recognised in the Statements of
Comprehensive Income from the attachment date over the period of the contract in
accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk ceded. Accordingly, a portion
of reinsurance expense is deferred at the reporting date.

3.4 Claims
The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present
value of expected future payments against claims incurred at the reporting date, with an
additional risk margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate.

The expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet
paid, IBNR, IBNER and anticipated future claims handling costs.

Claims handling costs include costs that can be associated directly with individual claims,
such as legal and other professional fees, and costs that can be indirectly associated with
individual claims, such as claims administration costs.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using a risk-free rate.

A risk margin is applied to the outstanding claims liability, net of reinsurance and other
recoveries, to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate of the outstanding
claims liability. This risk margin increases the probability of the net liability being
adequately provided for to a 75o/o level of sufficiency.

3.5 Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining protection revenue are deferred and recognised as
assets where they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give
rise to revenue that will be recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income in
subsequent reporting periods.

3.6 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred,

3.7 Income and other taxes
Current tax consists of the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
after any adjustments in respect to previous years. Current tax assets and liabilities are
the expected tax recoverable or payable on the taxable income for the year and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of pervious financial periods.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect to temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying

amount and tax bases. Deferred tax assets (deductable temporary differences, carried
forward unused tax assets and unused tax losses) are recognised to the extent it is

probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise them before the unused tax
losses or credits expire.

No deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in the following circumstances:

r temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business

combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting or
taxable profit or loss.

o temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in subsidiaries when it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally

enforceable right to offset and the tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.

The Company is limited by guarantee and operates for the mutual benefit of the Members.

Accordingly the Company is not liable for income tax on contributions received from
Members, nor are the related outgoings allowable as an income tax deduction. The

Company is, however, liable for income tax on interest and other income from

investments. CMLNZ is limited by shares and is liable for income tax in New Zealand, CIOM

is not liable for income tax in Isle of Man as it does not meet the required profit thresholds.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where

the amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from
the relevant tax authority. In these circumstances, GST is recognised as part of the cost

of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense as applicable and receivables

and payables are stated with the amount of GST included'

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant tax authority is

included as part of receivables or payables in the Statements of Financial Position. Cash

flows are included in the Statements of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components

of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from,
or payable to, the relevant tax authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the relevant tax authority.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand which are used in the cash
management function on a day to day basis and short-term deposits with a maturity of
three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at face value of the amount deposited. The carrying
amounts of cash assets approximate their fair value, For the purposes of the Statements
of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

3.9 Investments
Investments comprise assets held to back protection liabilities and assets that represent
Members' Equity. All investments are managed and performance evaluated on a fair value
basis for both external and internal reporting purposes.

All investments are designated as fair value through the Statements of Comprehensive
Income upon initial recognition. They are initially recorded at fair value (being the cost of
acquisition excluding transaction costs) and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at
each reporting date. Changes in the fair value are recognised as realised or unrealised
investment gains or losses in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. Purchases and
sales of investments are recognised on a trade date basis, being the date on which a
commitment is made to purchase or sell the asset.

Transaction costs for purchases of investments are expensed as incurred. Investments are
derecognised when the rights to receive future cash flows from the assets have expired,
or have been transferred, and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have
transferred.

Investment revenue is brought to account on an accruals basis.

3.10 Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries is initially recognised at cost, being fair value of consideration
provided and is subsequently carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount by the
parent entity. Costs incurred in investigating and evaluating an acquisition up to the point
of formal commitment to an acquisition are expensed as incurred. Where the carrying
value exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment charge is recognised in the
Statements of Comprehensive Income which can subsequently be reversed in certain
conditions. Where an additional interest is purchased in an existing subsidiary, the
acquisition is treated as a transaction between owners and has no impact on the
Statements of Comprehensive Income. Income from these investments, comprising
dividends and trust distributions, is brought to account on an accruals basis.

Dividend revenue is accrued on the date the dividends are declared.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.11 Assets backing claims liabilities
The Company has determined that all contributions receivable from Members, reinsurance

and other recoveries, cash and cash equivalents, investments and trade and other
receivables are held to back the claims liabilities.

3.L2 Receivables
Receivables are stated at the amounts to be received in the future, less any impairment
losses. The amounts are discounted where the effect of the time value of money is

material. The recoverability of debts is assessed on an on-going basis and provision for
impairment is made based on objective evidence and having regard to past default

experience, The impairment charge is recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive

Income. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off,

3.13 Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Recoveries receivable are assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding

claims. Recoveries are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts,

calculated on the same basis as the liability for outstanding claims. Reinsurance and other
recoveries receivable are tested for impairment on an ongoing basis with any resultant
changes being recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income,

3.L4 Impairment of assets
Assets are tested annually for impairment or more frequently when changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are

subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised as the amount by which the assets' carrying amount exceeds its

recoverable amount,

3.15 Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred acquisition costs (*DAC") are amortised systematically in accordance with the

expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the portfolio to which they relate. This

pattern of amortisation corresponds to the earning pattern of the unearned protection

revenue.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Unexpired risk liability
At each reporting date the Consolidated Entity assesses whether the unearned protection
revenue is sufficient to cover all expected future cash flows relating to future claims against
current protection contracts. This assessment is referred to as the Liability Adequacy Test
("LAT') and is performed separately for each group of contracts subject to broadly similar
risks and managed together as a single portfolio, see Note 17.

If the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus the
additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds
the unearned protection revenue less DAC and deferred reinsurance costs then the
unearned protection revenue is deemed to be deficient. The Company applies a risk margin
to achieve the same probability of sufficiency for future claims as is achieved by the central
estimate of the outstanding claims liability.

The entire deficiency is recognised immediately in the Statements of Comprehensive
Income. The deficiency is recognised first by writing down any DAC with any excess being
recorded in the Statements of Financial Position as an unexpired risk liability.

3.L7 Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Consolidated
Entity prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid, The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

3.18 Interest bearing liabilities
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration
received less directly attributable costs.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

3.19 Derecognition of financial instruments
The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Consolidated Entity no
longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is
normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the
instrument are passed through to an independent third party.

3.2O Critical judgement and estimates
The Company makes estimates and assumptions in respect of certain key assets and
liabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. The key areas in which critical estimates are
applied are described below aL3.27 and 3.22.

@,
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2L Outstanding claims liability
Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the repofting
date, including IBNR to the Company.

The estimation for the cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling

claims gross of the expected value of reinsurance and other recoveries. The Company

takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims

exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely

that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established,

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the

estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified, where more information about

the claim event is generally available, IBNR claims may often not be apparent to the

Company until many years after the events giving rise to the claims.

The Public and Products Liability and Professional Indemnity classes of business will

typically display greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because

there is a greater degree of difficulty in estimating IBNR reserves. For the property classes,

claims are typically reported soon after the event, and hence tend to display lower levels

of volatility, In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims the Company uses a variety
of estimation techniques, generally based upon statistical analysis of historical experience,
which assumes that the development pattern of the current claims will be consistent with
past experience.

Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which may create distortions in

the underlying statistics or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or

reduce when compared with the cost of previously settled claims including:

. changes in processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and

/ or recording of paid or incurred claims, compared with the statistics from
previous periods;

. changes in the legal environment;
o the effects of inflation;
. changes in the mix of business;
. the impact of large losses;
. movements in industry benchmarks; and
o medical and technological developments.

A component of these estimation techniques is usually the estimation of the cost of notified

but not paid claims. In estimating the cost of these claims, the Company has regard to
the claim circumstance as reported, any information available from loss adjusters and

information on the cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods.

Large claims impacting each relevant business class are generally assessed separately,
being measured on a case by case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the
possible distortive effect of the development and incidence of these large claims.
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NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where possible, the Company adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of
provisions, This assists in giving greater understanding of the trends inherent in the data
being projected. The projections given by the various methodologies also assist in setting
the range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique is selected,
taking into account the characteristics of the business class and the extent of the
development of each accident year.

Provisions are calculated gross of any reinsurance and other recoveries, A separate
estimate is made of the amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers based upon the
gross provisions.

Details of specific assumptions used in deriving the outstanding claims liability at year end
are detailed in Note 18.

3.22 Assets arising from reinsurance agreements
Assets arising from reinsurance agreements are also calculated using the above methods.
In addition, the recoverability of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure
that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be received, taking into
consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where
it can be reliably concluded based on specific evidence that the Company may not receive
amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured, in which case carrying
the amount is reduced.

3.23 Reclassification of comparatives
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year
presentation in this financial report. In particular, excesses have been reclassified from
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries to Gross Claims Expense in the Statements of
Comprehensive Income and notes 6, 7, B and 18.
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NOTE 4. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations became

effective for annual periods beginning 1 July 2018 and have been applied in preparing this

Consolidated Financial Report for the first time, None of these have had a significant effect

on the Consolidated Financial Report.

AASB 15 was issued in December 2OL4 and provides a single comprehensive model for
revenue recognition based on when the control of goods and services transfers to a

customer. The standard is mandatory from 1 January 2018 and effective for the year

ending 30 lune 2Ot9.It supersedes current revenue recognition standards and related

interpretations. The only item of revenue impacted by AASB 15 is membership income,

CML has established that the current accounting treatment is compliant with AASB 15,

CML has adopted the new standard however there are no changes required CML's revenue

recognition policies.

The Australian Accounting Standards and amendments detailed in the table below are not

mandatory for the Company until the application dates stated; however, early adoption is
often permitted. The Company does not plan to adpot these standards early.

AASB 9 was issued during 20L4 and will replace existing accounting requirements for
financial instruments. AASB 9 applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2018 however the International Accounting Standards Board has allowed for a

deferral of adopting AASB 9 to 1 July 2O21 to align with the effective date of AASB 17

Insurance Contracts,

Title Description Application date

AASB 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

1 July 2018

Title Description Application date

AASB 17
Insurance Contracts

1 July 2O2t - expected to be deferred to 1 July
2O22 following a tentative decision by the IASB to
delay the mandatory implementation date by one
year.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 July 202I - Deferrable when adopted in
conjunction with AASB 17
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NOTE 4. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

AASB 9 requires entities to perform the Business Model Test to assist in the classification,
measurement and impairment of financial assets, The new standard is based on the
concept that financial assets should be classified and measured at Fair Value Through
Profit and Loss ('FVTPL'), unless restrictive criteria are met for classifying and measuring
the assets at Amortised Cost ('AMC') or Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
('FWOCI',).

CML has considered the impact of AASB 9 on its financial statements and it is not expected
that it will have a significant change in accounting for the companies investments.
However, as at 30 June 20Lg CML cannot ascertain whether an accounting mismatch will
be present with the adoption of AASB L7 in 202L and therefore CML is electing to defer
adoption until 2021, as allowable under AASB 9.

AASB 17 was adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board in July 2077 and will
become mandatory for CML's 30 June 2022 financial statements, with the comparative
period for the year ending 30 June2021, It is expected that AASB 17 will be deferred to
1 July 2022 following a tentative decision by the IASB to delay the mandatory
implementation date by one year,

The standard will be applicable to general, life and health insurance businesses and
introduces a new'general model'for recognition and measurement of insurance contracts.
It also permits application of a simplified model called the Premium Allocation Approach
(PAA) (which is similar to AASB 1023) if the liability of remaining coverage under the
simplified model would not materially differ from the general model.

CML has completed a detailed impact assessment and performed additional analysis on
key areas of interpretation, It has been determined that the application of the simplified
model would deliver results that will not materially differ from the general model, and
therefore CML will look to employ the PAA model of AASB 17,

Given the broad scope and complexity of AASB 17, the impact of AASB t7 on CML, its
policies and the Consolidated Financial Report is still to be determined however, significant
disclosure changes and some impact on reported profit or loss are expected.
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT

The operating activities of the Company expose it to risks such as underwriting risk,
market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.

Risk Management Framework ("RMF")
The Company's RMF is embedded at Board level and throughout each functional area. This

structure recognises that effective risk management is critical in order for the Company to
meet its strategic and operational goals.

The RMF provides reasonable assurance that the material risks in the business are being
prudently and soundly managed. The Board understands that all business activity entails
varying degrees of risk. The focus of the RMF is to provide a framework to assess the
exposure and impact of the risk and then appropriately control or avoid it, in accordance

with the Company's defined risk appetite and the Three Lines of Defence model.

The RMF details the layers of managerial responsibility, risk management related policies

and the key processes used to identify, assess, monitor, report on and mitigate all material
risks likely to impact on the operations of the Company.

The Board has delegated its authority for the oversight of the RMF to the Audit, Risk and

Compliance Committee ("ARC"). In turn, the ARC Committee works closely with the
dedicated Line 2 risk management function within the business to ensure that the RMF

remains appropriate and effective, The ARC Committee is charged with overall
accountability for the RMF and risk management capability.

The CMM (Line 1) Management team is responsible for the effective identification,
assessment and management of the risks. To support Line 1 achieve this goal, the Line 2

risk management function provides oversight and advice, in addition to attending regular
Management meetings, Line 1 and Line 2 provide regular reporting to the ARC Committee.

The key risks addressed by the RMF are discussed below:

5.1 Underwriting risk
a. Nature of risk
Underwriting risk is the risk of financial loss and the inability to meet liabilities due to
inadequate or inappropriate product design, pricing, underwriting, concentration risk,

reserving, claims management and / or reinsurance management. For all protections, the
Company retains ultimate responsibility for:

o dcc€ptance criteria and process;
. pricing;
. product wordings;
e portfolio management; and
o moflitoring of underwriting performance.
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Company underwriting guidelines include delegations, limits, risk assessment and
selection criteria. Underwriting procedures are reviewed regularly, particularly when
changes occur in the internal or external environment. Adherence to procedures is subject
to Line 1 peer and manager reviews and control testing. The effectiveness of controls may
also be subject to Line 2 Risk Advisory reviews and Line 2 control testing; and / or Line 3

internal audits in line with a CSL Board approved audit plan.

b. How risk is managed
The principal risk associated with any protection contract is the possibility of the protected
event occurring and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. To mitigate the
impact of underwriting risk, the Company has the following key policies and procedures in
place:

(i) Selection and pricing of risk
Pricing risk relates to the risk of assigning a contribution amount at a price too low to
cover all risks associated with the type of protection sought. The Company has in place
the following controls to manage this risk:

. a Board approved Pricing Policy and a Pricing Procedure Manual, which outlines the
framework and processes for appropriate pricing and risk selection;

. underwriting delegations to experienced underwriters following a detailed analysis
of each class of business being underwritten;

r dr''tflu?l review of Underwriting Guidelines and criteria covering the classes of
business the Company underwrites;

. maximum limits are set for the acceptance of risk on an individual contract basis,
for classes of business and across the portfolio with particular attention paid to
geographic exposure, industry segment and the Company risk appetite;

r pr€scribed pricing reviews occur quarterly;

o portfolio performance is monitored ongoingly, with a Price Committee meeting held
monthly to monitor, assess and discuss all pricing matters;

. management information systems are used to provide reliable and accurate data
about the various risks being underwritten;

. reporting indicators such as loss ratio development highlight specific classes that
require pricing review;

. membership of CML by way of application is assessed on a case by case basis to
ensure that potential Members maintain a similar risk profile to the current
membership base;

. the diversification of business over numerous classes of business and geography
seeks to reduce variability in loss experience; and

. CML Members are CSL Members and are therefore pre-screened for credit
worthiness which eliminates a significant component of moral risk.
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The terms and conditions attaching to each risk protection agreement affect the level of
protection risk accepted by the Company. The Company provides discretionary cover to
Members. There are no special terms and conditions in any non-standard contracts that
have a material impact on the financial statements.

(ii) Claims risk
Full details of the Company's approach to the management of claims are contained in the

Claims Guidelines. These procedures are periodically reviewed by Management. Adherence
to procedures is subject to Line 1 peer reviews. The effectiveness of controls may also be

subject to Line 2 Risk Advisory'deep dives' and / or Line 3 internal audits in line with a

Board approved audit plan. The Company seeks to ensure the adequacy of its reserving
and ensure effective claims management through the use of the following controls:

. experienced claims officers are used to assess claims and determine case strategies.
Where necessary, they are assisted by external subject-matter experts. It is

Company policy to respond to and resolve genuine claims as quickly as possible, in

accordance with the provisions of the policy;

. the external Actuary provides an independent assessment of the net claims
provision at least semi-annually and includes a risk margin to increase the
probability of adequacy of the reserves to 75o/o; and

. all claims advices are captured and updated on a timely basis and with a realistic
assessment of the ultimate claims costs.

(iii) Product risk
The Board has delegated product development to CMM. A process is in place to ensure

appropriate underwriting and legal reviews and Board approvals are undertaken prior to
release of a product.

The terms and conditions of protection contracts written are entered into using a standard
form basis. There are no specific contract terms and conditions that are expected to have

a material impact on this financial report. The Company develops contract terms that are

specific to each product written.

(iv) Concentration risk
Concentration exposure is monitored on a regular basis, ensuring the portfolio is

sufficiently diversified such that there is no undue concentration by risk class, by industry
or by geographical region, The Company underwrites business across broad geographical

regions within Australia and New Zealand, Regular reviews are undertaken to gauge the

Company's geographic accumulation exposure. Catastrophe reinsurance is purchased to

ensure that any accumulation of losses from one area is protected.

Concentration risk is particularly relevant on the occurrence of a catastrophic event.

Typically these are weather related but can also be man-made such as industrial accidents

and infrastructure collapse.

The nature and level of catastrophes in any one year cannot be accurately anticipated but

the Company uses predictive modelling in conjunction with its reinsurance broker to

manage its exposure.
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Company's exposure to concentration of underwriting risk is mitigated by a portfolio
diversified across Australia and New Zealand. Product diversification is achieved through
a strategy of developing strong risk acceptance and pricing skills in a wide variety of
classes of business.

The tables below provide an analysis of gross written protections by country and class of
business.

Consolidated and Company
2019 2018

olo o/o

Country
Australia
New Zealand

Total

@,

Class
Business Property
Commercial Motor
Domestic Motor
Household Buildings and Contents
Other Accident
Public & Products Liability
Professional Indemnity
Total

a7
13

100

29
28

3

6
8

25
1

100

87
13

100

25

26

4

7

10

26

2

100

(v) Reinsurance risk
Reinsurance is used to limit the Company's exposure to individual claims and multiple
claims from catastrophe events. A Reinsurance Management Strategy ("REMS") has been
developed to ensure that CML implements appropriate reinsurance arrangements in
relation to the risks that it underwrites.

The REMS outlines the Board's requirements for the purchase and maintenance of the
reinsurance program. The REMS is approved by the Board and forms part of the Company's
overall risk management framework,

The Company uses a professional reinsurance broker to determine CML's reinsurance
requirements, to source reinsurance capital and to negotiate the terms of the program
each year.

The reinsurance program is approved by the Board annually,
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5.2 Market risk
Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact due to changes in the value or future
cash flows of financial instruments from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,

interest rates and equity prices.

A. Currency Risk
a. Nature of risk
Currency risk is the risk of loss from unfavourable movements in market exchange rates.

The Consolidated Entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk

arising from currency exposure with respect to the New Zealand dollar as a result of

offering risk protection products to New Zealand Members, Foreign exchange gains and

losses are generated on translation of New Zealand dollar held balances to the
presentation currency of Australian dollars.

The Consolidated Entity is not exposed to foreign exchange risk in relation to transactions

entered into by CIOM, as they are all denominated and settled in Australian dollars,

b. How risk is managed
The Company has adopted a policy of minimising the exposure to foreign currency through

attempting to match assets and liabilities in New Zealand dollars and transferring any

excess cash to Australian dollars when the rates are favourable. This creates a natural

hedge.
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Carrying
Amount

Balance
$'ooo

Consolidated Exposure to NZ$
-LOo/o t.l.Oolo

Profit / Impact on Profit / Impact on
(Loss) Members' (Loss) Members'

After Tax Equity After Tax Equity
$'o0o $'ooo $'ooo $'ooo

NOTE 5, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c, Sensitivity
The analysis below demonstrates the impact on Profit and Loss after Tax and Members'
Equity of a movement in foreign currency exchange rates against the Australian dollar on
NZ$ currency exposure using the foreign currency exposures at the reporting date.

zfJL9
Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables
Total decrease / (increase)

Financial Liabilities
Withholding tax
payable
Unearned protection
revenue
Outstanding claims
Total decrease / (increase)

Net decrease / (increase)

20 1B

Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables

Total decrease / (increase)

Financial Liabilities
Withholding tax
payable
Unearned protection
revenue
Outstanding claims

Total decrease / (increase)

540

5t542

138

4t387

2,345

378

4,691

LT7

3,672

L,37O

(s4)

(ss4)
(5o8)

L4

439

234
647

79

(38)

(46s)
(s07)

I2

367

L37

516

9

(s4)

(ss4)
(6o8)

L4

439

234
647

79

(38)

(46e)
(s07)

L2

367

t37
516

9

54

554

608

(L4)

(43e)

(234)
(687)

(7e)

3B

469

507

54

554
608

(14)

(43e)

(234)
(687)

(7e)

3B

469

507

(r2)

(367)

(137)
(s 16)

(e)

(r2)

(367)

(t37)
(s 16)

(e)Net decrease / (increase)
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Carrying
Amount

Balance
$'ooo

Company Exposure to NZ$

'l0o,/o *1oo/o
Profit / Impact on Profit / Impact on
(Loss) Members' (Loss) Members'

After Tax Equity After Tax EquitY

$'ooo $'ooo $'ooo $'ooo
2019
Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables
Total decrease / (increase)

Financial Liabilities
Unearned protection
revenue
Outstanding claims
Total decrease / (increase)

Net decrease / (increase)

20 18

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables

Total decrease / (increase)

Financial Liabilities
Unearned protection
revenue
Outstanding claims

Total decrease / (increase)

Net decrease / (increase)

540

5t542

4,387

2t345

368

4,69L

3,672

L,370

(s4)

(ss4)
(6o8)

439

234
673

65

(37)
(46e)

(s05)

367

t37
504

(2)

(s4)

(ss4)
(608)

439

234
673

65

(37)

(46e)
(so6)

367

L37

504

(2)

54

554
608

(43e)

(234)
(673)

65

37

469
506

(367)

(137)
(s04)

2

54

554
608

(43e)

(234)
(673)

65

37

469

506

(367)

(137)
(s04)

2

A 10% (2018: 10%) fluctuation in the exchange rate is considered appropriate in the
current economic environment considering recent movements'
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Consolidated and
Company

Carrying
Amount

NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B. Interest Rate Risk
a. Nature of risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from an unfavourable movement in market
interest rates.

The Company's interest rate exposure is limited to the on-going valuation of insurance
liabilities which are discounted, the risk that new or renewed investments need to be made
at different interest rates and the rate payable on the subordinated loan from CSL.

b. How risk is managed
The Company seeks to minimise exposure to interest rate movements on claims liabilities
through adherence to the Investment Policy which requires investing in fixed interest
securities that are broadly matched in duration to the expected pattern of the insurance
liabilities, The short-tail nature of the portfolio also means that exposure to discount rate
adjustments are minimal.

c. Sensitivity
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the interest bearing loan to interest rate
ris k.

$'ooo $'ooo

2,5OO

4,9O3 49

49

Members'
Equity

25

25

- 1OO Basis Points

Prolit /
(Loss)

After Tax

+ lOO Basis Points

Profit / lmpact on
(Loss) Members'

After Tax Equity

$'ooo $'0oo $'ooo

2019
Financial Liabilities
Interest bearing
liabilities
Total decrease / (increase)

20 1B

Financial Liabilities
Interest bearing
liabilities
Total decrease / (increase)

25

25

(4e)

(4e)

(2s)

(2s)

(4e)

(4e)

49

49

The Company's exposure to interest rate fluctuations on outstanding claims is covered in
Note 18,
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

A 100 basis points fluctuation is considered as close to the current prevalent economic

environment for the next twelve months and selected to demonstrate the impact on after
tax profit or loss and Members' Equity,

The net effect on Profit and Loss after Tax and Members' Equity due to a reasonably
possible change in risk variable is outlined as above, for interest rate risk, This has been

determined after taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic

forecasts and Management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets.

The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 20L9. The analysis assumes that all other
variables remain constant.

C. Price Risk
a. Nature of risk
Price risk is the risk of loss arising from unfavourable movements in market prices of
financial instruments.

The Company has no exposure to market price risk,

b. How risk is managed
The Company eliminates price risk by investing only in fixed term deposits which do not

fluctuate.

5"3 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss from a counterparty failing to meet their obligations,

a. Nature of risk
The Company's credit risk arises predominantly from investment activities, reinsurance

activities and underwriting activities including contributions receivable and third party
recoveries receivable.

b. How risk is managed
i) Investments

The Company has an Investment Policy which is approved by the Board. The exposure to
any individual entity is limited by entity-specific and Company exposure limits in the
Investment Policy. The Investment Policy strictly prohibits any exposure to derivatives.

ii) Reinsurance
The Reinsurance Management Strategy ("REMS") includes references to the minimum

Standard & Poor's ("S&P") rating that must be used in the composition of the reinsurance
panel,

It is Company policy to only deal with reinsurers with credit ratings of at least A- unless

approved by the Board. Where the credit rating of a reinsurer falls below the required
quality during the period of risk, a contractual right to replace the counterparty exists.

The reinsurance program is spread across major reinsurance markets and reinsurers to
avoid over-dependency upon any one market and to generate competition.

@,
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

In order to reduce concentrations of credit risk, the Company seeks to limit exposure to
any single reinsurer, or group of related reinsurers, when purchasing reinsurance
protection.

The Company transacts with a large number of reinsurers in various regions without any
individual counterparty having a material outstanding balance,

iii) Contributions receivable
Contributions receivable are for protections that are charged to Members' accounts,
collected by CSL and are settled monthly. Non or short-payment of contributions results
in the cancellation of the protection contract with the Member eliminating both the credit
risk and underwriting risk for the unpaid balance.

c. Credit risk exposure
The carrying amount of financial assets in the balance sheet represents the maximum
exposure to risk.

The Company's investing activities are restricted to deposits with APRA regulated
institutions, i.e. within highly regulated markets which considerably reduces the exposure
to credit risk.

The following table provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Company
based on S&P's counterparty credit ratings to its financial assets. Due to the number of
reinsurance counterparties the rating in the table below is the minimum rating for that
group.

Credit quality
Consolidated

Cash at bank
Investments
Contributions receivable
Investment i ncome receivable
Reinsura nce receivables
Reinsurance recoveries on
outstanding claims
Other claim recoveries
Total

2019
Rating

AA
AAto A

Not Rated
AA- to A
AA- to A

AA. to A
Not Rated

20 1B

Rating
AA

AAtoA
Not Rated

AA- to A
AA- to A

AA- to A
Not Rated

2019

$'ooo
8t755

25,OOO

40,2O7
3L4
306

L,978
2,9O2

79.462

20 1B

$'000
7,626

22,OO0

34,9L9
270
380

2,677
2,347

70,2L9
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

2019
Rating

AA
AAtoA

Not Rated
AA. tO A
AA- to A

2018
Rating

AA

AAtoA
Not Rated

AA- to A
AA- to A

@,

2019
$'ooo
8,586

25,OOO

40,2O7
313
306

1t978
2,902

79t292

CFIPFIIC(fFIN

2018

$'000
7,413

22,OO0

34,9L9
270
379

2,677
2,347

70,005

29,580
5,339

34,9t9

Company

Cash at bank
Investments
Contri butions receivable

Investment i ncome receivable
Reinsurance receivables
Reinsurance recoveries on

outstanding claims
Other claim recoveries

Total

2018

Contributions receivable from Members

Contributions receivable from CSL

Provision for impairment

Total receivables

AA- to A AA- to A

29,580
5,339

Not Rated Not Rated

Reinsurance recoveries on outstanding claims are not due until the original gross claim is
paid by the Company to the Member however, the credit rating of the underlying reinsurers
is extremely important from a balance sheet strength perspective.

No provision for impairment has been recognised for the reinsurance recoveries on

outstanding claims balances.

Other claim recoveries are due from a wide range of counterparties ranging from
individuals, in the case of a not at fault motor claim caused by and uninsured person, to

a listed insurer. The table above shows the most conservative position of a Not Rated for
all recoveries in this class.

The table below shows the maturity profile of contributions receivable.

Consolidated and ComPanY

Neither past Greater Past due
due nor than I and Total

impaired year impaired
$'oo0 $'ooo $'ooo $'ooo

2019
Contributions receivable from Members 34,ltL 34.1lt
Contributions receivable from CSL 6'095 6'096
Provision for impairment

Total receivables 4O2O7 4O,2O7

34,9L9

There are no past due and impaired receivables for the Company at reporting date.
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Maturity

1 year or less
Within Lto2 years
Over 2 years

Total

Consolidated and Company
Net discounted

outstandins craims - "-1"-l 1id
liability rnvestments

2019 2018 2019 2018
$'ooo $'000 $'ooo $'000

20,524 16,473 33t755 29,626
2,326 2,!L5
1,57L L,225

24,421 19,813 33t755 29,626

NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5.4 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is concerned with the risk of there being insufficient cash resources to meet
payment obligations without affecting the daily operations or the financial condition of the
Company. Liquidity facilitates the ability to meet expected and unexpected requirements
for cash,

a. Nature of risk
The liquidity position is derived from operating cash flows, investment portfolios and
reinsurance arrangements. To ensure payments are made when they fall due, the
Investment Policy provides sufficient cash deposits to meet day to day obligations,
investment funds can be realised to meet significant claims payment obligations and in
the event of a catastrophe event, immediate cash access is available under the terms of
reinsurance arrangements.

An analysis of the Company's investments by contractual maturity is provided in the
following table along with maturity profile of the estimated net discounted outstanding
claims liability based on the remaining term to settlement at the reporting date,

This maturity profile is a key tool used in the investment of assets backing protection
liabilities in accordance with the policy of attempting to match the maturity profile of the
assets with the estimated pattern of claims payments,

Timing of future claim payments are inherently uncertain. The table above represents
estimated timing,

The financial liabilities that exist are trade and other payables, interest bearing liabilities
and outstanding claims liability. These liabilities are based on an undiscounted contractual
obligation basis except for outstanding claims liabilities which are discounted based on
estimated timing of their settlement.
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1 year or
less

$'ooo
6t622

20,524
27,L46

5,889

16,473

22,362

I year or
less

$'ooo
6,47L

20t524
26,995

5,77O

L6,473

22,243

2to5
years

3,861
31861

3,315
3,315

Over 5
years

2,5O0
36

2,536

4,9O3
25

4,928

CFlPRICOFIN

Total

$'ooo
6t622
2,5O0

24AzL
33t543

5,889
4,903

19,813

30,605

Total

$'ooo
647L
2,5OO

24,42L
33,392

5,77O
4,9O3

19,813

30,486

@,/Votes to the Consolidated Financial Report
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

These financial liabilities have the following maturity pattern

Maturity profile of financial
liabilities

Consolidated 2O19
Trade and other payables

Interest bearing liabilities
Outstanding claims liability
Total

Consolidated 2018
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Outstanding claims liability
Total

Maturity profile of financial
liabilities

Company 2019
Trade and other payables

Interest bearing liabilities
Outstanding claims liability
Total

Company 2018
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Outstanding claims liability
Total

$'ooo $'ooo

$'ooo $'ooo

2to5
years

3,861
3,861

3,315
3,315

Over 5
years

2,500
36

2,536

4,9O3
25

4,928
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5.5 Operational risk
a. Nature of risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events. In addition to financial loss, operational risks
can result in reputational damage, increased regulatory supervision, loss of licence and
personal injury.

b. How risk is managed
Operational risks are identified and assessed on an on-going basis by Line 1 Management
and staff. Risks are assessed and controls are identified to mitigate inherent risks to an
acceptable residual risk level in line with the Company's risk appetite. Active management
of any residual risk outside of appetite is assigned to a responsible person, together with
the development of a time bound action plan which is documented in the risk management
system ('Shield'),

The effectiveness of controls may be subject to Line 2 Risk Advisory risk reviews and Line
2 control testing.

A Line 3 internal audit team may also undertake thorough audits to assess the design and
effectiveness of the controls in place.

The key controls relied upon to mitigate risks include:

. Staff with industry expertise and/or specialist qualifications are employed and
charged with responsibility for implementing the RMF within their functional areas;

. Delegated authorities are based on expertise and proven performance with
adherence closely monitored;

. System access controls within Pure which are subject to six-monthly review;

. Dual authorisation of payments above specific limits, and for the addition of new
supplier banking details;

. Documented policies and procedures; and

. Regular and formalised training for staff to maintain and develop professional
knowledge and understanding of compliance obligations.

(i) Outsourcing risk
Outsourcing is an important part of the Company's business model and recognises that
the reliance on outsourcing agreements to achieve business objectives gives rise to
substantial risks.

The Board recognises that material outsourced business activities remain the responsibility
of the Board. The Company's primary outsourced service providers are CMM and CRS with
respect to the management of the Company's business.
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NOTE 5. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(ii) Business interruption risk
The Board acknowledges that critical events may occur that are beyond the control of the
Company, but which may potentially have catastrophic effects on its ability to reach

business objectives.

The Company manages these risks through a combination of strategies. Adequate
insurance is placed to transfer risk through reducing potential financial losses.

In addition, a system of crisis identification and management has been adopted.
Procedures are in place to determine the most appropriate course of action in response to
a potential crisis event. The Business Continuity Plan details how the Company will ensure

the on-going operation of its critical business functions in the event of a crisis; whilst the
Information Technology Disaster Recovery Plan details how the Company will ensure the
recovery of critical IT systems following an unplanned outage or failure. Both plans are

subject to annual testing.
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NOTE 6. REVENUE

(i) Gross protection revenue
Gross written protections
Movement in unearned protection revenue
Membership Fees

(ii) Reinsurance and other recoveries
Reinsurance and other recoveries (Note B)

(iii) Investment revenue
Interest revenue
Dividend from subsidiaries

(iv) Foreign exchange gains / (losses)
Foreign exchange gains / (losses)

Total revenue 62,836 56,646 62t893 56,64r

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

cFttfFltcoFlN

Company
20L9 2018

$'ooo $'000

@,

64,323
(4A77)

92
59,938

64,323
(4,477)

92
59,938

r,961
11961

724

724

2L3
213

55,982
(3,27L)

96

52,8O7

3,404
3,404

619

619

( 184)

( 184)

55,982
(3,27r)

96

52,807

1,951
1,951

724
50

774

220.

220.

3,404
3,404

618

618

( 1BB)

( 1BB)
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NOTE 7. EXPENSES

Gross claims expense (Note B)

Acquisition costs
Reinsurance expense

(i) Other underwriting expenses
CSL collection charges

Other management fees

(ii) Other operating expenses
Directors'fees
Legal fees

Actuarial costs

Audit and tax consulting fees

Reinsurance broking fees

Other expenses

Interest expense

Total Expenses

190 22L 190 22L

60,066 53,390 60,0,47 53,435

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

@, CFlPFIICCfFIN

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

33,59O
8,4O5
5,655

2t679
7,638

LOr3L7

333
a4

138
229
330
795

1,9O9

29,796
7,549
5,150

2,32r
6,BBB

9,2O9

318
76
94

74t
323
513

t,465

33,59O
8,405
5,655

2,679
7,668

LO,347

323
a4

138
2L4
330
77L

1,86O

29,796
7,549
5,150

2,32r
6,963

9,284

298
76
94

r43
323
501

t,435
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NOTE 8. NET CLAIMS EXPENSE

Current year claims relate to claim events that occurred in the current financial year. Prior
year claims relate to a reassessment of the claim events that occurred in all previous
financial periods,

Current
Year

$'ooo

37tOLg

(111)

36,908

(3,21s)

15

(3,2OO)

33t708

(3,319)

1

(3,318)

Lt239

1,239

(2,O79)

33,7OO

(110)

33,590

3L,7BO

(s6s)

3L,zLr

(r,432)

t7

(1,415)

9L2

(11)

901

(s 14)

Total

$'000

30,348

(ss2)

29,796

(3,480)

76

(3,4O4)

26,392

Consolidated and Company
2019 2018

Prior Current Prior
Years Total Year Years

$'ooo $'ooo $'ooo $'000

Gross claims expense

Gross claims incurred -
undiscounted
Impact of discounting
Gross claims incurred -
discounted

Reinsurance and other
recoveries -
undiscounted
Impact of discounting
Reinsurance and other
recoveries - discounted
Net claims expense

(r,976)

15

(1,951)

3L,629

(4,392)

B7

(4,305)

26,906

NOTE 9. INCOME TAX

9.1 Composition

Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current
income tax of previous years

Current tax expense

Deferred tax expense
fncome tax expense

20L9
$'ooo

113

22

135

135

(sB)

48

48

20L9
$'ooo

113

22

135

135

Consolidated
2018

$'000
106

Company
20 1B

$'000
ro7

(sB)

49

49
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NOTE 9. INCOME TAX (continued)

9.2 Income Tax Reconciliation
A reconciliation between income tax expense and the profit before income tax multiplied
by the applicable tax rate is as follows:

@,

2019
$'ooo
2,846

854

Company
20 1B

$'000

3,206

962

Profit for the year before income tax

Income tax calculated @ 30o/o (2018: 30o/o)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of
previous years

Mutual activities not subject to tax

Deferred tax
Income tax expense

Income tax due

Instalment paid

Deferred tax

Total income tax payable

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

2t77O 3,256

831 976

22 (sB)

(72e)
11

135

(Bss)

( 1s)
4B

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

LO2 LzI
(1o8) (s6)

11 (1s)

550

22 (sB)

(7s2)
11

135

(840)

( 1s)
49

Company
2019 2018

$'0oo $'000

L02 r27

(1o8) (s6)

11 (1s)

550

The Company is limited by guarantee and operates for the mutual benefit of Members.

Accordingly, the Company is not liable for income tax on contributions received from
Members, nor are the related outgoings tax deductible. The Company is, however, liable
for income tax on interest and other income from investments.

9.3 Income Tax Payable
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NOTE 10. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash on hand and held with banks and deposits at
call readily convertible to cash. There are no cash balances held that are not available for
use in normal operations.

1O.1 Composition
Consolidated Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'ooo $'000 $'ooo $'000

For the purpose of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following at 30 June:

Cash at bank 81755 7,626 8,586 7,413

Total cash and cash equivalents 81755 7,626 81586 7,4I3

LO.2 Significant Risks
The net carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents represents the maximum exposure
to credit risk relevant to cash and cash equivalents at reporting date and is equivalent to
the fair value of the assets because of the negligible credit risk.

1O.3 Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating
activities

Consolidated
20L9 2018

$'ooo $'000
2,635 3,208

(L7) 35

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'ooo
2,7LL 3,L57

(L7) 33

Profit after tax for the year
Adjustments for:-
(i) Foreign exchange (gain) / loss in cash at bank
(ii) Movement in operating assets / liabilities
Decrease / (increase) in operating assets
Receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Deferred expenses
Dividends paid
Deferred acquisition costs
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Income tax payable
Trade and other payables

Unearned protection revenue
Outstanding claims liability
Net cash flows from operating activities

(s,2s8)
r44

(283)

(4s)
733

4,477
4,608
6,515

(4,99O)
(7s2)
(302)

(21)
465

3,27r
1,389
1,863

(5,258)
L44

(283)
(48)

(47e)

(4s)
70L

+477
4,608
6,511

(4,987)
(7s2)
(302)

(44o)

(21)
459

3,27L
1,389
L,BO7

(47e) (440)
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NOTE 11. INVESTMENTS

11.1 Composition

Fixed term deposits

Total investments

G, cFltrFltcCfFtN

Consolidat'ed and Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000
25,00o 22,OOO

25,OOO 22,O00

All investments mature within 12 months from reporting date, in Iine with last year.

The investments held at reporting date have yields ranging from 2.090/o to 2.85o/o p.d.

The Company's exposure to credit and interest rate risks related to investments is

disclosed in Note 5.

LL.z Determination of fair value
The total investments balance is based on a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
inputs used in the determination of fair value, The fair value hierarchy has the following
levels:

(i) Level 1 - Quoted prices
Derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments.

(ii) Level 2 - Observable inputs
Derived from valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable).

(iii) Level 3 - Unobservable inputs
Derived from valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable).

All investments have been categorised in the Level l fairvalue hierarchy (2018: Level 1).
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NOTE 12. RECEIVABLES

(i) Contributions receivable

Contributions receivable from Members
Contributions receivable from CSL

Total contributions receivable

(ii) Other receivables
Investment income receivable
Reinsurance receivable on paid claims
Total other receivables
Total receivables

@,

34.ltL
6rO96

40,2O7

306
313
619

40t826

CFlPFIICOFIN

Consolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

34,LtL
6r096

40,2O7

307
313
620

40$27

29,580
5,339

34,9L9

271

379

650

35,569

29,580
5,339

34,9L9

270
379

649

35,568

Members pay contributions for their protections via their Capricorn account with CSL and
have the option to pay either in one lump sum or in monthly instalments payable in

advance. There is no additional charge for the option to pay in instalments.

CSL remits the collections it makes to the Company on a monthly basis in arrears. CSL
charges the Company 4o/o (2018:4o/o) as a settlement discount on all collections received
and guarantees payment to the Company. If a Member fails to make payment, the
protection is cancelled and the carrying amount of the remaining receivable is reduced
accordingly, as is the unearned revenue, effectively resulting in no net Profit and Loss
effect.

Under the terms of the Preferred Supplier Trade Agreement between CSL and CML, CSL
does not assume the debt owed by Members to CML and CML's Members'liability to make
payments to CML is not discharged when CSL receives those funds, it is discharged only
once CML receives the due amount.

The carrying value of receivables includes nil (2018: nil) which is expected to mature more
than 12 months from reporting date.

The Company's exposure to credit and market risks and impairment losses related to trade
and other receivables is disclosed in Note 5.
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NOTE 13. REINSURANCE AND OTHER RECOVERIES ON OUTSTANDING CLAIMS

13'1 Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstandt"n 
t3il"t,idated and company

2019 2018

$'ooo $'000
Expected reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims -
undiscounted 

'-"'J -'-" "- 4,269 4,412

Risk margin 635 693

Discount to present value (24) (81)

Expected reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding
cfaims - discounted 4'880 5'024

The reinsurance and other recoveries asset includes $0.595m (2018: $0.749m) which is

expected to be settled after 12 months from reporting date,

The Company's exposure to liquidity risk related to reinsurance and other recoveries is
disclosed in Note 5.

See Note 18 for a reconciliation of reinsurance and other recoveries receivable movement.

13.2 Actuarial assumptions
The measurement of reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims is an

inherently uncertain process involving estimates, The amounts are generally calculated
using actuarial assumptions and methods similar to those used for the outstanding claims

liability (refer Note 18),

The valuation of outstanding reinsurance recoveries is subject to similar risks and

uncertainties as the valuation of the outstanding claims liability. Significant individual
losses (for example those relating to catastrophe events) are analysed on a case by case

basis for reinsurance purposes.

13.3 The effect of changes in assumptions
The effect of changes in assumptions on the net outstanding claims liability, which

incorporates the reinsurance recoveries on outstanding claims and other recoveries is

disclosed in Note 18.

G,
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NOTE 14. DEFERRED UNDERWRITING EXPENSES

(i) Deferred Acquisition Costs
Reconciliation of movements
Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition costs deferred during the year
Acquisition costs expensed for the year
Balance at the end of the year

(ii) Deferred reinsurance expenses
Reconciliation of movements

Balance at the beginning of the year
Reinsurance expenses deferred during the year
Reinsurance expenses expensed for the year

Balance at the end of the year

(iii) Deferred expenses
Reconciliation of movements
Balance at the beginning of the year
Expenses deferred during the year
Expenses expensed for the year

Balance at the end of the year
Subtotal (ii) and (iii)

Consolidated and Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000

@,

4,338
8,884

(8,405)
4,8L7

2,834
5,9O7

(s,6ss)
3,O86

L74
553

(s22)
205

3,29r

CFIPFIICC)FIN

3,898
7,989

(7,549)
4,338

2,63r
5,353

(5,150)

2,834

75

502
(403)

174

3,008

The carrying value of deferred underwriting expenses is expected to be expensed within
12 months of reporting date.
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NOTE 15. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

15.1 Composition

@,

2019
$

91
91

CFIPFIICC)FIN

Consolldated
2019 2018

$$

Company
2018

$
91

91
Investment in subsidiaries
Total investment in controlled entities

L5.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries

CML NZ Limited

Capricorn (Isle of Man) Limited

Total investment in subsidiaries

Trade creditors
Reinsurance expense payable

Total trade and other PaYables

Country of
Incorporation

New Zealand
Isle of Man

2019
olo

100
100

2018
o/o

100

100

Ownership
interest

Book value of
Company

investment
2019 2018

$$
90 90

11
91 91

Company
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000
4,201 3,511
2t27O 2,259
6A7t 5,770

The share in CIOM is held in trust for CML by IQ EQ (Isle of Man) Limited

NOTE 16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Gonsolidated
2019 2018

$'ooo $'000
41352 3,630
2,270 2,259
6t622 5,889

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled

within 30 days except for reinsurance expense which is payable in quarterly instalments'

Amounts have not been discounted because the effect of the time value of money is not

material. The carrying amount of payables is a reasonable approximation of the fair value

of the liabilities because of the nature of the liabilities'
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LAT Calculation

Unearned protection revenue
Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred reinsurance expenses
Future reinsurance expenses required
Total provision available

Actuarial estimate of future liabilities
Central estimate of present value of expected future cash flows
from future claims
Present value of expected future cash inflows arising from
reinsurance recoveries on future claims
Risk margin
Total actuarial estimate of future liabilities

Net surplus

@,

3,797
24t276

cFtpFltccfFrN

NOTE 17. UNEARNED PROTECTION REVENUE

L7.L Reconciliation of movement in unearned protection revenue
Consolidated and Company

2019 2018

$'o00 $'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 3O,4OL 27,L30
Written protections deferred during the year 64,323 55,982
Written protections earned for the year (591938) (52,807)
Membership Fees 92 96
Balance at the end of the year 34,878 3O,4OL

The carrying value of unearned protection revenue is expected to be earned in less than
12 months from the reporting date.

L7.2 Liability Adequacy Test (*LAT")

The LAT has been conducted using the central estimate of the contribution liabilities
together with an appropriate margin for uncertainty to arrive at a probability of adequacy
of 75o/o. The margin included in the Company's expected future cash flows for future claims
as a percentage of the central estimate is 19olo (2018: I9o/o).

The application of the LAT has identified a surplus of $2.705m as at 30 June 2019 (2018:
$2.175m).

Consolidated and Company
2019 2018
$'ooo $'000

34t879 30,401
(4,817) (4,338)
(3,086) (2,833)

6 (22)
26,981 23,208

23,512 20,578

(3,033) (2,858)

3,313
21,033

2,705 2,L75

Risk margin percentage
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY

18'1 composition of gross outstanding claims liabilitY"onsotidated 
and company

2019 2018

$'ooo $'ooo
Case estimates L4t579 11,569

IBNR 5,654 5,014

Gross central estimate - undiscounted 2Ot233 16,583

Risk margin 31343 2,800

Claims handling expenses 1'011 813

24,587 20,196

Discount to present value (166) (383)

Gross outstanding claims liability - discounted 24,42t 19,813

The outstanding claims liability includes $3.897m (2018: $3.340m) which is expected to

be settled after 12 months from reporting date'

The Company's exposure to liquidity risk related to outstanding claims liability is disclosed

in Note 5.

18.2 Reconciliation of movement in outstanding claims liability
Consolidated and Company

Gross

2019

Reinsurance
and other

recoveries

$'ooo

Net Gross

$'0oo $'0oo

2018

Reinsurance
and other
recoveries

$'000

Net

Balance at the
beginning of the
year
Current year claims
i ncu rred
Movement in
discounting
Incurred claims
recognised in the
Statements of
Comprehensive
Income
Claim (payments) /
recoveries during
the year
Balance at the
end of the year

$'ooo $'000

19,813 (5,024) L4t789 18,870 (4,717) 14,153

33,7OO (L,976) 3L,724 30,348 (3,480) 26,868

(110) 15 (es) (ss2) 76 (476)

33,59O (1,961) 3L,629 29,796 (3,4O4) 26,392

(2a,9A2) 2,LO5 (26,a77) (28,853) 3,O97 (25,756)

(4,880) L9t54l 19,81324A2I
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

18.3 Claims development table

The following table shows the development of the net undiscounted outstanding claims for
the four most recent accident years and all prior years and also a reconciliation to the net
discounted outstanding claims liability.

Consolidated and Company
Accident Year

2015 and prior 2016 2Ol7 2018
$'oo0 $'ooo $'00o $'ooo

Net ultimate claims payments
Development
At end of accident year L26,393 18,587 25,293 25,871
One year later 124,08I L6,973 24,271 25,L37
Two years later t24,O15 I7,L5B 23,7Ot
Three years later 123,750 16,845
Four years later 123,286
Current estimate of net
ultimate claims payments L23'286 16'845 23'70L 25'137

cumulative payments made r23,024 16,981 23,268 23,7o.-to date
Net undiscounted
outstanding claims 262 (136) 433 L'436

Discount to present value (3) I (7) (23)
Net discounted
outstanding claims 259 (135) 426 l'413

Reconciliation
Claims handling expenses
Risk margin
Net outstanding claims liability
Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims liability
Total gross outstanding claims per the Statements of Financial Position

L8.4 Central estimate and risk margin

2019
$'o0o

3r,o54

3r,054

17,088

13,966

( 108)

13,858

Total
$'000

22O,023

2O4,062

15,961

( 140)

15,821

1,01 1

2,709
L9t54L

4,880
24,42L

The percentage of risk margin applied to the net outstanding
claims liability
The probability of adequacy of the risk margin

Consolidated and Company
20L9 2018

o/o o/o

15.O 16.2

75 75
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

18.5 Process for determining outstanding claims liability
The outstanding claims liability is determined based on three building blocks being:

o d c€Ftral estimate of the future cash flows;
o discounting for the effect of the time value of money; and
o a risk margin for uncertaintY.

18.5.1 Future cash flows
The estimation of the outstanding claims liability is based on a variety of actuarial

techniques that analyse experience, trends and other relevant factors. The expected future
payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid or not yet paid in

full, IBNR, IBNER and the anticipated direct and indirect claims handling costs,

The estimation process involves using the Company's specific data, relevant industry data

and more general economic data. Each class of business is usually examined separately

and the process involves consideration of a large number of factors. These factors may

include the risks to which the business is exposed at a point in time, claim frequencies and

average claim sizes, historical trends in the incidence and development of claims reported

and finalised, legal, social and economic factors that may impact upon each class of
business, the key actuarial assumptions set out in this Note 18 and the impact of
reinsurance and other recoveries.

Different actuarial valuation models are used for different claims types and lines of

business, The selection of the appropriate actuarial model takes into account the
characteristics of a claim type and class of business and extent of the development of each

past accident period.

@,
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

18.5.2 Discounting
Projected future claims payments, both gross and net of reinsurance and other recoveries
and associated claims handling costs are discounted to a present value using appropriate
risk-free discount rates.

18.5.3 Risk margin
The central estimate of the outstanding claims liability is an estimate which is intended to
contain no deliberate or conscious over or under estimation and is commonly described as
providing the mean of the distribution of future cash flows. It is considered appropriate to
add a risk margin to the central estimate in order for the claims liability to have an
increased probability of adequacy, The risk margin refers to the amount by which the
liability recognised in this financial report is greater than the actuarial central estimate of
the liability.

Uncertainties surrounding the outstanding claims liability estimation process include those
relating to the data, actuarial models and assumptions, the statistical uncertainty
associated with a claims run-off process, the risks external to CML, for example the impact
of future legislative reform. Uncertainty from these sources is examined for each class of
business and expressed as a volatility measure relative to the net central estimate. The
volatility measure for each class is derived after consideration of statistical modelling and
benchmarking to industry analysis,

The determination of the overall risk margin takes into account the volatility of each class
of business and the correlations between the lines of business. The current risk margin,
which has been determined after assessing the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate
and the prevailing market environment, results in an overall probability of adequacy for
the outstanding claims liability of 75o/o (2018:75a/o) in accordance with Board policy,

18.6 Actuarial assumptions
18.6.1 Process used to determine assumptions

(i) Discounted average term to settlement
The discounted average term to settlement relates to the expected payment pattern for
claims (inflated and discounted), It is calculated by class of business and is generally based
on historic settlement patterns. The discounted average term to settlement, while not
itself an assumption, provides a summary indication of the future cash flow pattern.

(ii) Inflation rate
Claims costs are subject to inflationary pressures. Economic inflation assumptions are set
by reference to current economic indicators,

(iii) Superimposed inflation rate
Superimposed inflation occurs due to non-economic effects such as the costs of court
settlements increasing at a faster rate than the economic inflation rate utilised. There is
no allowance for superimposed inflation due to the short-tail nature of the portfolio.

@
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

(iv) Discount rate
The discount rate is derived from market yields on Commonwealth Government securities
at the reporting date having similar duration to the liability cash flows. A single discount
rate which is equivalent to the yield curve is adopted.

(v) Undiscounted
A range of different actuarial methods is used depending on the nature of the class of
business and the extent and duration of Company experience available. Assumptions are

based on the Company's own experience.

For all classes of business the undiscounted outstanding claims liability is established by

modelling future payments using two standard actuarial techniques based on the pattern

of development of payments and incurred losses. The apparent IBNR and IBNER is the
difference to current case estimates.

(vi) Other recoveries
Salvage and subrogation recoveries can be significant; particularly for motor business.

Recoveries are the difference between the actuarial methods applied to claims data gross

and net of third party recoveries.

(vii) Claims handling expenses
The liability includes allowance for claims handling expenses (*CHE") equal to 5olo (2018:
5o/o) of gross outstanding claims.

This allowance has been derived following an analysis of the actual and budgeted expenses

of the Company.

18.7 The effect of changes in assumptions
L8.7.L General impact of changes

(i) Loss ratios
An increase in loss ratio assumption will increase the outstanding claims liabilities where
this is a valuation input, An increase or decrease in the loss ratio will have a

corresponding increase or decrease on surplus,

(ii) Discount rate
The outstanding claims liability is calculated by reference to expected future payments.

These payments are discounted to adjust for the time value of money. An increase or
decrease in the assumed discount rate will have a corresponding decrease or increase on

surplus.

(iii) Claims handling expenses ratio
An increase in the CHE ratio reflects an increase in the estimate for the internal costs of
administering claims. An increase or decrease in the ratio assumption will have a

corresponding increase or decrease on surplus.
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

(iv) Incurred claims development
The outstanding claims liability is calculated based on historical claims cost development
patterns. High or lower levels of claims cost development than assumed will have a

corresponding increase or decrease on surplus respectively.

18.8 Sensitivity analysis of changes in assumptions

The impact on the Statements of Comprehensive Income before income tax to changes in
key actuarial assumptions is summarised below. Each change has been calculated in
isolation of the other changes and is net of reinsurance recoveries,

The movements are stated in absolute terms where the base assumption is a percentage,
forexample, if the loss ratio assumption was 5Oo/o, a L1o/o increase would mean assuming
a 600/o loss ratio.

For the loss ratio sensitivity, the minimum loss ratios that are applied for the last three
accident months for short-tail classes and the last six accident months for long-tail classes
are adjusted.
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Profit /
(loss)

impact
Before

tax
$'ooo

(1es)
195
135

(138)
(233)
233

(2,29A)
2,32L

@,Alotes to the Consolidated Financial Report
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NOTE 18. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (continued)

Assumption

2019
Base
Loss Ratio

Discount rate

Claims Handling Expense

Incurred Development

2018
Base

Loss Ratio

Discount rate

Claims Handling Expense

Incurred Development

Movement in
assumption

15o/o
-5o/o

'l Io/o

-Lo/o

lIo/o
-lo/o

50o/o

-500/o

*5o/o
-5o/o

ILo/o
-lo/o

*lo/o
-Lo/o

50%
-500/o

Gross
$'ooo

24.42L
195

(les)
(1se)
r63
233

(233)
2,298

(2,32L)

Net
$'ooo

L9,54L
195

(les)
(13s)
138
233

(233)
2t298

(2,32L)

Net
olo

1.0
(1.o)
(0.7)
o.7
L.2

(1.2)
11.8

(11.e)

L.4
(1,4)
(0.7)
o.7
1.3

( 1.3)
8.1

(8.1)

19,813
208

(2oB)
( 12s)
t28
189

( l8e)
1,193

( 1,193)

L4,789
208

(208)
(ee)
LO2

189
(1Be)

1,193
( 1,193)

(208)
208

99
( 102)
( 1Be)
189

( 1,193)
1,193
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NOTE 19. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

Subordinated loan from CSL

Total interest bearing liabilities

@, cFlPFllcotrlN

Consolidated and Company
2019 2018

$'oo0 $'000
2r5OO 4,903
2r5OO 4,903

The carrying value of the interest bearing liabilities approximates fairvalue and is expected
to be settled within the 12 months from reporting date.

CSL and the Company entered a loan agreement in 2006. The loan agreement was
amended in 2012 to extend the term to 31 October 2025 for repayment.

The major terms and conditions of the agreement are:
. CSL, CML and ASIC have agreed that the loan shall be subordinated to all the claims

demands, rights and causes of action of all unsubordinated creditors;
. CSL has agreed with ASIC not to demand or commence proceedings for repayment

or recovery of the whole or any part of the subordinated loan without prior approval
in writing of ASIC. Such consent shall be granted only if ASIC is satisfied that CML is

capable of complying with the financial conditions in its AFSL following withdrawal of
the loan;

. CML has agreed with ASIC not to repay any part of the loan or provide CSL with any
additional collateral as security for the loan without ASIC's consent;

. CML has agreed to notify ASIC if any demand is made or proceedings commenced by
CSL to recover any part of the loan; and

. The interest rate payable on the loan is the Reserve Bank of Australia's published
daily interbank overnight cash rate plus 3olo per year.

CML made a partial loan repayment in March 20L9 to the value of $2.403m. This
repayment was made with ASIC's consent.
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NOTE 20. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

(ii) Taxation services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Tax compliance services, including review
of controlled entity income tax returns
Transfer Pricing review
PricewaterhouseCoopers New Zealand
Tax compliance services, including review
of controlled entity income tax returns

Total PricewaterhouseCoopers

Total remuneration for taxation
services

(iii) Other services
PricewaterhouseCoopers
GST Review
Capital Return Mechanism
NZ GST Private Ruling
AASBl7 Consultancy
Total remuneration for other services

26,L7O (8,680)

41206 (10,823) 26,170 (8,680)

@,

Company
2019

$

CFIPFIICC)FIN

Consolidated
2019 '2018

$$

26,17O

2018

$

(i) Audit services
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit and review of financial reports L77,926 156,999 L77,926 156,999

Totaf remuneration for audit services t77t926 156,999 177t926 156,999

15,O36

4L,206

lO,OOO
32,977
42,977

( 16,330)

7,650

(2,r43)

( 10,823)

8,360
( 12,000)

(L,21.9)

26'17O

LO,OOO

32t977
42t977

( 16,330)

7,650

8,360
( 12,000)
(r,2L9)

(4,859) (4,859)

Total auditors' remuneration 262,LO9 r4L,3r7 247 ,o73 L43,460

The credit for taxation and other services in 2018 is due to an over accrual in the prior
period,
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NOTE 21. CONTINGENCTES

The Board is not aware of any contingent liabilities at the date of signing this report.

NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

22.1Parent entity
The parent entity within the Group is Capricorn Mutual Limited.

22.2 Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are set out in Note 15

22.3 Inter-com pany transactions
Transactions between the Company and its controlled entities during the year ended 30
June 2019 are detailed below:

The Company recognised reinsurance expenses of $5,654,974 (2018:
$5,ts},474) in accordance with the Agreement for Discretionary Protection with
CIOM. It also paid a fee of $30,000 (2018: $75,000) to CIOM. The amounts
payable for Discretionary Protection are equal to the amounts payable by CIOM
to CMLNZ and CMLNZ to Aon Benfield underthe terms of the CMLNZ reinsurance
pro9ram.

CIOM recognised reinsurance expenses of $5,654,974 (2018: $5,L50,474) in
accordance with the Indemnity Agreement with CMLNZ. It also paid a fee of
$25,000 (2018: $25,000) to CMLNZ. The amounts payable for Indemnity are
equal to the amounts payable by CMLNZ under the terms of the CMLNZ
reinsurance program.

The Company recognised reinsurance recoveries of $1,054,546 (2018:
$912,123) in accordance with the Agreement for Discretionary Protection with
CIOM.

CIOM recognised $1,054,546 (2018: $9t2,I23) in accordance with the
Indemnity Agreement with CMLNZ which CMLNZ recognised from the ultimate
reinsurance recoveries from Aon Benfield.
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NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

22.4 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its related parties during the year ended 30 June

20L9 are detailed below:

. CSL has provided a subordinated loan of $2,500,000 (2018: $4,903,401) to the
Company. The interest incurred by the Company during the period was $190,281
(2018: $220,653);

. The Company paid management fees of $9,000,000 (2018: $7,950,000) under
the terms of the management agreement with CMM;

. The Company paid management fees of $9,000,000 (2018: $7,950,000) under
the terms of the management agreement with CRS; and

. The company incurred collection fees of $2,679,461 (2018: $2,320,902) under
the terms of the preferred supplier agreement with CSL.

Management fees are benchmarked annually against comparable arrangements in the
industry to ensure that they are on commercial terms.

22.5 Key management personnel
The Directors of the Company have been determined to be Key Management Personnel
("KMP') within the scope of AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures. The names of the
persons who were Directors of the Company at any time during the financial year were as

follows:

. John Balmforth

. Russell Becker

. Mark Cooper

. Bruce Rathie

Directors were in office for the full period unless otherwise stated.

The fees paid to Directors during the year ended 30 June zOLg by the Company are
detailed below:

20L9
20 1B

Short-Term
Benefits

$
304,628
29L,760

Post-Employment
Benefits

$
27,99O
25,81B

Total

$
332,618
3t7,577
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NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

22.5 Key management personnel (continued)

All other KMP are employees of CMM, CRS and CSL. The Company receives management
services from CMM, CRS and CSLwhich includes the provision of KMP, The Company does
not remunerate KMP or directly reimburse CMM, CRS or CSL for this cost; rather an overall
management fee is paid to CMM, CRS and CSL. This is disclosed within Note 22.4 Related
Party transactions.

NOTE 23. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

CMM has an agreement with CML to manage its operations until June 2024, CRS has an
agreement with CML to distribute its products to Members until June 2024. The
remuneration under each agreement is negotiated annually. CML has an agreement with
CSL to provide protection to its Members under the terms of a Preferred Supplier Trade
Agreement until June 2024.

NOTE 24. CAPTTAL MANAGEMENT

The Company holds an AFSL issued by ASIC. A number of conditions of the licence require
the Company to maintain certain levels of capital.

As at 30 June 20L9, the Company has met the minimum capital requirements to satisfy
all applicable conditions.

NOTE 25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As at the date of this report, there were no material or unusual events or transactions
occurring after the reporting date that the Directors are aware of that would significantly
affect the Group's operations or its state of affairs.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Capricorn Mutual Limited:

the financial report and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

o giving a true and fair view of financial position of the Company and

Consolidated Entity as at 30 June 20L9 and of their performance, as

represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
year ended on that date;

o complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

o the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 2.

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed this 28th day of August 2019 in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

Bruce Rathie

Chairman

ohn Balm

Director

a

a
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Indep endent auditor's r ep ort
To the members of Capricorn Mutual Limited

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of Capricorn Mutual Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities
(together the Group) is in accordance with theCorporationsAct 2oo7, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view ofthe Company's and Group's financial positions as at 3o June zorg and oftheir
financial performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations zoor,

What we haue o:udited
The Company and Group financial report comprises:

. the Consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 30 June zorg

. the Consolidated and Company statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended

. the Consolidated and Companystatements ofchanges in equityforthe yearthen ended

e the Consolidated and Company statements ofcash flows for the year then ended
. the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies

. thedirectors'declaration.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in theAuditor's responsibilitiesfor the audit of thertnancial report section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2oo7 and the ethical requirements ofthe Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board's APES tto Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Consolidated annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial
report and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

PriceuaterhouseCoopers,ABN gz 78o 4SS 757
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999, tDtuw.pwc.com.au

Ieuel tt, IPSQ, t6g Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zt5o, PO Box ttg5 Parramatta NSW ztz4
T: +6t z 9659 2476, F: +6t z Bz66 9999,wut).pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



}
pwe

In connection with our audit ofthe financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directorsfor thefinancial report

The directors ofthe Company are responsible for the preparation ofthe financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporattons Act 2oo1 and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation ofthe financial report that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability ofthe Company and the
Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis ofaccounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilitiesfor tlrc audit of thefinancial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit ofthe financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ary.pdf. This
description forms part ofour auditor's report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Christopher Verhaeghe
Partner

Sydney

28 August 2019
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY 

Registered Office 

The registered office of Capricorn Mutual Limited ("CML"), the parent entity is: 

28 Troode Street 

West Perth, WA 6005 

Australia 

The registered office of CML NZ Limited ("CMLNZ"), a wholly owned subsidiary is: 

c/- Buddle Findlay 

1 Willis St, Wellington Central 

Wellington 6011 

New Zealand 

The registered office of Capricorn (Isle of Man) Limited ("CIOM"), a wholly owned 

subsidiary is: 

c/- IQ EQ (Isle of Man) Limited 

First Names House 

Victoria Road 

Douglas 

Isle of Man IM 1 4DF 

Auditor 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
One International Towers Sydney 
Watermans Quay 
Barangaroo, NSW 2000 

Bank 

ANZ Banking Group 
77 St Georges Terrace 

Perth, WA 6000 

Actuary 

Finity Consulting 
Level 7, 68 Harrington Street 
The Rocks 
Sydney 2000 

Solicitor 

Lander & Rogers 
Level 19 

123 Pitt St 
Sydney, NSW 2000 
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

Consolidated. FY19 FY18 FY17 FY16 FYlS 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Gross written protections 64,323 55,982 so, 758 43,923 39,974 

Net claims expense (31,629) (26,392) (25,257) (17,885) (17,788) 
Net underwriting result 3,932 4,507 2,248 6,713 6,966 

Income tax expense (135) (48) (24) (162) (116) 

Profit after tax 2,635 3,208 1,033 5,464 5,366 

Total Assets 87,570 77,565 69,254 59,134 49,477 

Members' Equity 19,144 16,509 13,301 12,268 6,804 

Key Ratios 
Gross written protection growth 150/o 10% 16% 10% 2% 
Gross claims ratio 56% 57% 65% 52% 48% 
Combined operating ratio* 960/o 95% 98% 86% 86% 

*Combined operating ratio includes all P&L items as they are all considered to be part of the operations of

the Company
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